1970

John Michael Kryger and William Frederick Stewart v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellants appeal from a decision of the Honorable Leonard W. Elton, Judge, Third Judicial District Court, denying the appellants' petition for a writ of habeas corpus.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

John Michael Kryger and William Frederick Stewart plead guilty to the crime of robbery on the 10th day of June, 1968, in the District Court, Third Judicial District, State of Utah. On December 29, 1969, a petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County. A response of the Attorney General was duly filed and

pre-trial held on the matter. Hearing was held on the 10th day of April, 1970, before the Honorable Leonard W. Elton and on the 15th day of April, 1970, Judge Elton entered an Order denying the appellants' relief under their petition.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the trial court's decision denying their petition for writ of habeas corpus.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about May 15, 1968, a robbery occurred in Salt Lake County. (R. 33) Thereafter the petitioners, Kryger and Stewart, were charged with the robbery. They plead guilty to the crime of robbery and subsequently filed a complaint for a writ of habeas corpus alleging that their pleas of guilty were not voluntarily entered. (R. 1) The appellants alleged that their pleas of guilty were the result of Kryger being subjected to an illegal lineup, that Kryger gave a confession under circumstances that rendered it illegal in Stewart's case as well as Kryger's, evidence was obtained against them as a result of an illegal search and seizure. The only testimony offered at the hearing

on the appellants' complaint for habeas corpus was that of the appellants. The State offered no testimony to rebut their contentions. Kryger testified that he was arrested on May 15, 1968 at approximately 1:00 A.M. (R. 33) He was pulled over at a store, his car was searched and he was ordered to stand on the sidewalk while another car circled around the road a few times. (R. 33) At that time Kryger was apparently identified as being one of the perpetrators of a robbery which had occurred earlier. He was not advised of his right to have counsel present at the lineup. He was identified apparently as having been involved in a robbery of a service station. (R. 34) He was then taken to the police station where he was interrogated. He was told that if he didn't give a confession he was going to "serve time - a lot of time * * *" He was not advised as to any of his constitutional rights. As a result of the coercion and interrogation he confessed to robbing a service station with William Stewart and told the officers where a knife was located which had apparently been used in the robbery. (R. 37-38) He did not give the officers permission to search the apartment where the knife was located. At the time

of preliminary hearing the testimony of the confession, a knife, which was subsequently recovered from his apartment, and the identification was used against him. He testified that this effected his plea. (R. 39-41) Mr. Kryger was represented by counsel but counsel did not discuss the question of the lineup, his confession or the use of evidence obtained from the apartment against him. (R. 41) There was apparently no discussion to the effect that possibly these items of evidence could not be used in a prosecution in the District Court.

William Stewart testified that he was in his apartment on the 15th of May, 1968, and at approximately 4:00 A.M. in the morning he was awakened by officers from the Salt Lake City Police Department. (R. 48) He was immediately placed under arrest and asked where the knife was located. He was given no advice of his right to remain silent or of the other elements of the Miranda warning. (R. 49) He did not give a statement to the police and a search of his apartment disclosed nothing. Subsequently, the police returned to the apartment without a warrant, searched the

apartment and found the knife. (R. 49, 58, 62) At the time of preliminary hearing, Kryger's statement implicating Stewart was admitted into evidence (R. 50) as was the knife taken from the apartment. There was no discussion with Stewart's attorney, who also represented Kryger, concerning the search nor any discussion of a search warrant (R. 55, 62) Stewart said that his attorney felt that they had a weapon and a confession and that this was sufficient to make out a good case against him. (R. 56) Based upon evidence at preliminary hearing and counsel's statement, he entered a plea of guilty.

Neither Kryger or Stewart had graduated from high school and Stewart had only a ninth grade education.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE UNCONTESTED EVIDENCE DISCLOSES THAT APPELLANTS' PLEAS OF GUILTY WERE INDUCED AS A RESULT OF ILLEGALLY OBTAINED EVIDENCE.

At the time that the appellants filed their petition for writ of habeas corpus, and at the time of hearing before the trial court, the United States Supreme Court had not decided the cases of McMann v. Richardson, U.S. _____, 90 S. Ct. 1441; Parker v.

North Carolina, ___ U.S. ___, 90 S. Ct. 1458 (1970);
and Brady v. United States, 90 S. Ct. 1463. At the
time the appellants filed their petition the law was
generally to the effect that a plea of guilty induced
by an illegal confession or illegally obtained evidence
could not be deemed a voluntary plea. See Brennan,
Dissenting, McMann v. Richardson, supra, 90 S. Ct. 1451,
F.N. 2. However, the appellants submit that their
case is not controlled by the principles of McMann v.
Richardson, supra, Parker v. North Carolina, supra, or
Brady v. United States, supra. In the instant case,
holding Kryger for identification without affording
him an opportunity to have counsel present was arguably
a violation of the United States Supreme Court's decision
in United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218 (1967), since
there may have been no adequate basis for arrest,
Wong Sun v. United States; Nedrud, The Supreme Court
and the Law of Criminal Investigation, 145-148.
Subsequent to his arrest, Kryger was taken to the Salt
Lake Police Department where he was interrogated without
being warned of his constitutional rights. The failure
to advise Kryger prior to the interrogation was a clear
violation of Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

and rendered his confession involuntary and inadmissible. Further, the coupling of the threats with the absence of a warning rendered the confession involuntary especially in light of the limited education of the appellant, and the circumstances surrounding the interrogation. Haynes v. Washington, 373 U.S. 503 (1963) Lynumn v. Illinois, 272 U.S. 528 (1963). In addition, both Kryger and Stewart at the preliminary hearing were faced with the lineup, the illegal confession and evidence illegally seized. The use of the confession of Kryger against Stewart would not be constitutionally permissible at the time of trial. Indeed, both men could not be tried in a common trial if Kryger's confession were to be introduced against him. Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968).

The police entered the apartment of Stewart after his arrest, after he had been taken to jail, and after a prior search of the apartment had been made and nothing uncovered. The search was without the consent of either Stewart or Kryger. They recovered a knife apparently used in the robbery. This search and the seizure of the knife was without consent, without warrant, nor incident to arrest and was thus clearly unconstitutional. Stoner v. California, 376 U.S. 483 (1964); Recznik v.

City of Lorain, 393 U.S. 166 (1968); Shipley v. California, 395 U.S. 818 (1969); Preston v. United States, 376 U.S. 364 (1964). The undisputed testimony of Kryger and Stewart was to the effect that the illegally obtained and tainted evidence directed induced their pleas of guilty. Kryger further testified that there was no discussion with his attorney concerning his confession, the lineup, or the apparent illegal search and seizure. (R. 41) Stewart testified that there was no discussion with counsel concerning the search, and he also testified that the attorney had indicated that since there was a confession and evidence uncovered at a search, a plea of guilty was in order. It is submitted in the first instance that this case is within both of the two exceptions to the rule in McMann that a plea of guilty cures non jurisdictional deficiencies. The first exception is that this case presents a circumstance where the coercion of Kryger had an abiding and continuing impact so as to taint his plea. McMann v. Richardson, 90 S. Ct 441, pg. 447. Certainly there was nothing done by the police or appointed counsel to dispel the impact of the confession, the lineup or the search. In addition, Kryger was exposed to the confession being used against

him at the preliminary hearing. This would appear to bring the matter well within the Chambers v. Florida, 309 U.S. 227 (1940) exception noted in McMann. In McMann v. Richardson, supra, the court stated the rule as follows:

"In our view a defendant's plea of guilty based on reasonably competent advice is an intelligent plea not open to attack on the grounds that counsel may have misjudged the admissibility of the defendant's confession. Whether a plea of guilty is unintelligent and therefore vulnerable when motivated by a confession erroneously thought admissible in evidence depends as an initial matter not on whether a court would retrospectively consider counsel's advice to be right or wrong, but on whether that advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. On the one hand, uncertainty is inherent in predicting court decisions; but on the other hand defendants facing felony charges are entitled to the effective assistance of competent counsel. Beyond this we think the matter, for the most part, should be left to the good sense and discretion of the trial courts with the admonition that if the right to counsel guaranteed by the Constitution is to serve its purpose, defendants cannot be left to the mercies of incompetent counsel, and that judges should strive to maintain proper standards of performance by attorneys who are representing defendants in criminal cases in their courts." (Emphasis added)

This is not a case where it can be said that counsel's advice was within the range of competence demanded by attorneys in criminal cases. Alires v. Turner,

22 U.2d 118, 449 P.2d 241 (1969). The state did not call counsel to rebut the testimony of Kryger and Stewart that there was no discussion concerning the alleged illegally obtained evidence or that in fact the attorney felt that there was a good case against the petitioners. The evidence as it is now before the court clearly supports a determination that Kryger's confession was illegally extracted, and that the knife taken from the apartment was obtained as a result of illegal search and seizure. Further, there is no rebuttle to the assertion that counsel did not discuss the legal implications of these matters with appellants. This is not a case like Brady v. United States and Parker v. North Carolina, where counsel would have been required to anticipate future Supreme Court decisions. The law was clear. Under these circumstances it is submitted that McMann v. Richardson compels a determination that the plea of guilty of the appellants was not free and voluntary but the product of illegally obtained evidence.

POINT II

THE APPELLANTS' PLEA OF GUILTY WAS ACCEPTED IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 7 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

Appellants submit, that assuming that their plea is controlled by the decision of McMann v. Richardson, supra, as respects their federal constitutional allegations, that this court should rule that their pleas cannot stand under Article I, Section 7 of the Constitution of the State of Utah. The McMann v. Richardson, supra, decision is a distinct minority expression as respects overall judicial evaluation on the issue of whether a plea of guilty will be deemed voluntarily entered in the face of illegally obtained evidence. Moreno v. Beto, 415 F.2d 154 (C.A. 5th Cir. 1969); United States ex rel. McCloud v. Rundle, 402 F.2d 853 (C.A. 3d Cir. 1968); Kott v. Green, 387 F.2d 136 (C.A. 6th Cir.1967); Reed v. Henderson, 385 F.2d 995 (C.A. 6th Cir. 1967); United States ex rel. Collins v. Maroney, 382 F.2d 547 (C.A.3d Cir.1967); Smiley v. Wilson, 378 F.2d 144 (C.A.9th Cir.1967); Carpenter v. Wainwright, 372 F.2d 940 (C.A. 5th Cir. 1967); Doran v. Wilson, 369 F.2d 505 (C.A.9th Cir. 1966); White v. Pepersack, 352 F.2d 470 (C.A.4th Cir. 1965); Zachery v. Hale, 286 F. Supp. 237 (D.C.M.D.

Ala.1968); United States ex rel. Cuevas v. Rundle,
285 F. Supp. 647 (D.C.E.D.Pa. 1966); People v. Spencer,
66 Cal.2d 158, 57 Cal.Rptr. 163, 424 P.2d 715 (1967);
Commonwealth v. Baity, 428 Pa. 306, 237 A.2d 172 (1968).

The overwhelming weight of judicial consideration rejects the proposition that a person who enters a plea of guilty as a result of illegally obtained evidence enters a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea. Substantial reason militates against the position taken by the Supreme Court in McMann v. Richardson, supra. The overwhelming majority of criminal cases are settled without trial upon a plea of guilty. The purpose for the exclusionary rule adopted in Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961) was to deter police activity which violated the 4th and 14th Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and may be criminal (18 U.S.C. 241, etc.) or at least tortious. Monroe v. Pape, 365 U.S. 167 (1961). If officers may now believe that if an accused pleads guilty the fruits of their illegal activity will be justified the reason for complying with constitutional standards will be diluted. It is submitted that the better rule would be that urged by the dissenting opinions in McMann and that this court should determine that due process of law under

the Constitution of the State of Utah is violated where an accused's plea is a result of illegally obtained evidence.

CONCLUSION

The pleas of guilty entered by the appellants in the instant case were as a result of illegally obtained evidence and unconstitutional police practices. The decisions of the United States Supreme Court in McMann v. Richardson, supra, does not support a conclusion that the pleas were voluntarily entered since there was not the adequate consultation with counsel that the McMann case requires. Further, as a matter of state constitutional law, the pleas were taken in violation of due process. This court should reverse.