1970

John Michael Kryger and William Frederick Stewart v. John W. Turner, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

The Appellants, John Michael Kryger and William Frederick Stewart, were denied a petition for writ of habeas corpus before the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, The Honorable Leonard W. Elton, Presiding.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

John Michael Kryger and William Frederick Stewart pleaded guilty to the crime of robbery on the 10th day of June, 1968, in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County. On December 29, 1969, a petition for writ

of habeas corpus was filed in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County. A response of the Attorney General was duly filed and hearing held on the matter before the Honorable Leonard W. Elton. On the 14th day of April, 1970, Judge Elton entered an order denying the appellants' writ of habeas corpus.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent submits that the decision of the District Court should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

John Michael Kryger and William Frederick Stewart were arrested on May 15, 1968 (T. 33, 47), and charged with robbing one Thomas Edwin Finch (T. 33, 47). Subsequently on June 10, 1968, John Michael Kryger and William Frederick Stewart, with counsel, made an intelligent and voluntary plea of guilty to the crime of robbery. (Arraignment and plea T. 1, 2, 3).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

APPELLANTS' GUILTY PLEAS WERE VOLUNTARILY AND UNDERSTANDINGLY MADE AND AS A RESULT WAIVE ALL DEFENSES OF ILLEGALLY OBTAINED EVIDENCE.

Counsel for appellants states that petitioners were forced to plead guilty. He puts great stress on the illegality of the evidence obtained against Kryger and Stewart,

and claims the guilty pleas were induced as a result of this evidence. Appellants specifically complain that a confession, a knife, and a lineup (which appellants claim were illegally obtained or accomplished), coupled with arresting officers' failure to make a *Miranda* warning, voids the guilty plea.

Before delving into court law on these allegations, it is important to note two points. First, all so-called "illegal evidence" as represented by appellants is nothing more than allegations on their part. Because the appellants pleaded guilty, trial was never held, and thus no judge or jury ever determined if the allegations made by Stewart and Kryger were true. Second, the guilty pleas by Stewart and Kryger were voluntarily and understandably given. The Judge told them the consequences of their plea, and counsel asked them if they had been coerced in any way — both answered no. Then both appellants stated they were pleading guilty solely because they were guilty of the crime charged.

THE COURT: Which one is Stewart? Alright. Mr. Stewart and Mr. Kryger, the Court wants to inform you that this is a felony and in the event either of you should plead guilty thereto or be found guilty thereof you will be subjected to a possible indeterminate term in the Utah State Prison. Are you aware of that fact, Mr. Stewart?

MR. STEWART: Yes.

THE COURT: Are you aware of that fact, Mr. Kryger?

MR. KRYGER: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Record may so show and, also, you and each of you have at least two days and not more than ten days before entering pleas to this charge unless you desire to waive that time and enter pleas at this time.

MR. STEWART: I'd like to waive it.

THE COURT: Alright. Time may be waived on behalf of Defendant Stewart. And, you, Mr. Kryger, would also like to waive?

MR. KRYGER: (Nods head.)

THE COURT: Alright. Time may be waived on behalf of the Defendant Kryger.

MR. BOWN: Your Honor, prior to the entry of a plea may I have the convenience of the record?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. BOWN: Mr. Stewart and Mr. Kryger, I understand at this time you are about to enter a plea of guilty to the crime of robbery as charged in the Information, which was just read to you, is that correct?

MR. STEWART: Yes.

MR. KRYGER: Yes.

MR. BOWN: Now, in regard to this plea, Mr. Stewart and Mr. Kryger, has anyone from my office, from the District Attorney's office, the County Attorney's office, the police department, the County Sheriff's department, the Court or anyone given any promise or done anything to coerce you into pleading guilty to this charge as you've just heard read to you, Mr. Stewart, and Mr. Kryger? Answer audibly, would you please?

MR. STEWART: No.

MR. KRYGER: No.

MR. BOWN: Then I understand you're entering a plea of guilty solely because you are guilty of the crime as charged here, is that right?

MR. STEWART: Yes.

MR. KRYGER: Yes.

(Arraignment and Plea T. 2, 3.)

The transcript in the habeas corpus proceeding also seems to indicate Kryger and Stewart knew they were guilty and gave voluntary pleas.

Q. And did you subsequently plead guilty?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Would you tell the Court whether this evidence, the identification, the presence of the knife, the other things, the statement that you made, induced to any extent your plea?

A. No, sir.

Q. What was your reason for pleading?

A. We just thought we'd just get out there and do our time because they said it would be until about December and we didn't want to wait around in the County jail for about eight months.

Q. Did you believe there was no other alternative than to plead guilty in view of this evidence?

A. No, sir.

(T. 40.)

The above transcripts clearly indicate that Stewart and Kryger voluntarily and intelligently, with the advice

of counsel, pleaded guilty to the crime charged, especially in light of a recent Tenth Circuit decision :

“It is a fundamental basic right that an accused be advised of the nature of charges against him and consequences of plea of guilty; however, it is not mandatory that judge ritualistically and personally advise accused of these matters; it is sufficient that the accused be in fact aware of such regardless of the source from where the information comes; the accused can be put on real notice through his own lawyer.” *Miller v. Crouse*, 346 F. 2d 301 (10th Cir. 1965). *Id.* at 306. See also: *William v. Cox*, 350 F. 2d 849 (10th Cir. 1965).

Because petitioners Stewart and Kryger pleaded guilty to the crime charged, they have no basis to bring the present habeas corpus. It is a well known rule of law, supported to decisions of the United States Supreme Court, that all non-jurisdictional defects are waived on a plea of guilty. *Kercheval v. United States*, 274 U. S. 220 (1926). Therefore, petitioners' claims of illegal evidence, forced confession, which in turn forced the guilty plea, illegal lineup, and incomplete *Miranda* warning which are non-jurisdictional claims were waived when they pleaded guilty.

In a United States Supreme Court case dealing with Rule II of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the majority opinion states the following :

“A defendant who enters such a plea (guilty) simultaneously waives several constitutional rights, including his privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, his right to trial by jury, and his right to confront his accusers. For this waiver to be valid under the due process clause, it must be ‘an inten-

tional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege.’” *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U. S. 459 (1969). *Id.* at 465.

This same principle was also held in *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U. S. 238 (1969).

“Several federal constitutional rights are involved in a waiver that takes place when a plea of guilty is entered in a state criminal trial. First, is the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment and applicable to the state by reason of the fourteenth. *Malloy v. Hogan*, 378 U. S. 1. Second is the right to trial by a jury. *Duncan v. Louisiana*, 391 U. S. 145. Third is the right to confront one’s accusers. *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U. S. 400.” *Id.* at 243.

This year the Supreme Court has handed down a decision which expands the *McCarthy*, and *Boykin* decisions, *supra*. In *McMann v. Richardson*, U. S., 90 S. Ct. 1441 (1970), the court held:

“*Because guilty plea is a waiver of trial and, unless applicable law otherwise provides, a waiver of right to consent admissibility of any evidence state might have offered against defendant, guilty plea must be an intelligent act done with sufficient awareness of relevant circumstances and likely consequences.*” *Id.* at 1446. (Emphasis added.)

In Utah there is no other applicable law and of course, the Supreme Court decision is binding — a guilty plea waives right to consent to admissibility of evidence by defendant. This decision specifically prohibits Kryger and Stewart from alleging the evidence was illegally seized, through their guilty pleas they waived *consent* of prohibiting evidence in court.

McMann v. Richardson, *supra*, also held that a guilty plea resulting from a confession is not grounds to allege a coerced or induced plea. (In the present situation petitioners claim the confession of Kryger could not be used against Stewart and that the confession was coerced.)

“New York defendants, who with the advice of counsel had entered pleas of guilty, were not entitled to hearing on habeas corpus petitioners alleging that their confessions had been coerced and that the improperly procured confessions induced their guilty plea where there was no further showing.” *Id.* at 1449.

See also *Parker v. North Carolina*, U. S., 90 S. Ct. 1458 (1970); and *Brady v. United States*, U. S., 90 S. Ct. 1463 (1970).

The other federal courts including the Tenth Circuit adhere to the same principle. Note the following language taken from *Benton v. United States*, 352 F. 2d 59 (10th Cir. 1965) wherein the defendant alleged that there was an illegal search and seizure, coercion, and illegal confessions.

“In view of the allegation of fact made by appellant on this appeal with respect to the search and seizure, the coercion, and the confession issues, we agree with appellee that appellant’s plea of guilty prevents any consideration thereof on this point.” *Id.* at 60.

In another Tenth Circuit case, *Lattin v. Cox*, 355 F. 2d 397 (10th Cir. 1966), the appellant (appeal from denial of his habeas corpus petition) presented several issues at

the pretrial hearing; that no warrant was issued for appellant's arrest; his plea of guilty was not voluntary; that statement made to police officers was without his knowledge and hence illegal; that property was taken through an illegal search and seizure; and finally, he complains of cruel and unusual punishment and delay in being brought before a justice of the peace. The Tenth Circuit then held:

"After a careful consideration of the entire record before us, we must conclude that the pleas of guilty entered by Lattin in the state court to the charges of involuntary manslaughter and rape were voluntary and understandingly made and were not induced by any promises or threats. Such pleas of guilty waived all nonjurisdictional defects in proceedings had prior thereto." *Id.* at 400.

State court precedence is also in accord. The Supreme Court of Arizona in *State v. Martinez*, 102 Ariz. 215, 427 P.2d 533 (1967) states the following:

"We find no validity in this argument for none of the matters complained of by defendant attacks any jurisdictional defect in the proceedings and it is a well established rule of law that when a defendant voluntarily and knowingly pleads guilty at his trial such constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defenses, defects and irregularities." *Id.* at 534.

From these cases, it is clear that a guilty plea similar to Kryger and Stewarts', which are voluntarily and knowingly given, waive all nonjurisdictional defenses, defects or irregularities.

Appellants try to distinguish the *McMann* decision

on two counts. First, he states that the Supreme Court decision in *McMann, supra*, is a minority view and goes against reason. A Supreme Court decision is not considered a minority view, on the contrary it is considered the supreme law of the land! Most of appellants' brief is based on Supreme Court decisions which were so called "minority decisions". Where applicable, Supreme Court decisions are the final and authoritative law of America.

Appellants also try to attack or distinguish *McMann* on the basis of incompetent counsel. *McMann* held "plea of guilty in state court is not subject to collateral attack in federal court on ground that it was motivated by a coerced confession unless defendants were incompetently advised by their attorney." *Id.* at 1948. Appellants assert original counsel was incompetent and therefore *McMann* does not apply. Counsel for appellants was and is a well-known and respected lawyer in the community. He was with appellants when they pleaded guilty and surely advised appellants as to what he thought was best for them. Even the Supreme Court realizes how hard it is to advise your client whether or not to plead guilty.

"But because of inherent uncertainty in guilty plea advice" *McMann v. Richardson*, U. S., 90 S. Ct. 1441. *Id.* at 1449.

"Considerations like these [whether or not to plead guilty] frequently present imponderable questions for which there are no certain answers; judgments may be made which in the light of later events seem improvident, although they were perfectly sensible at the time." *Brady v. United States*, U. S., 90 S. Ct. 1463 (1970). *Id.* at 1473.

In *Syddall v. Turner*, 20 Utah 2d 263, 437 P. 2d 194 (1968), the court looked to the record to see if anything suggested that the prisoner had been improperly induced to enter his plea of guilty. Since nothing was shown, the court held that he had been adequately represented by counsel.

Arizona allows a contention of deprivation of adequate counsel to be asserted in habeas corpus proceedings only in extreme cases:

"If appellant sets forth no facts which indicate the appointed attorney's performance was so substandard as to render the trial a farce or sham, the petition is properly denied." *Baron v. State*, 7 Ariz. App. 223, 437 P. 2d 975 (1968). *Id.* at 977.

Considering the transcript, original counsel's reputation, and all circumstances involved, it is difficult to understand why or when counsel was inadequate, rather, respondent contends that original counsel for petitioners was completely competent and advised his clients to the best of his ability.

"When defendant weighs his state court remedies and admits his guilt, he does so under the law then existing *and assumes risk of ordinary error in either his or his attorney's assessment of law and facts*, and although he might have pleaded differently had later decided cases then been the law, *he is bound by his plea, and his conviction will not be set aside unless he can allege and prove serious derelictions on part of counsel sufficient to show that his plea was not a knowing and intelligent act.*" *McMann v. Richardson*, *supra*. (Emphasis added.)

CONCLUSION

The respondent respectfully submits that the habeas corpus petition should be denied. Petitioners Stewart and Kryger entered an intelligent and voluntary guilty plea, and based on cases cited, they have no right to allege their constitutional rights were violated. Respondent prays that the lower court order denying the petition for habeas corpus be affirmed.